I. INTRODUCTION 

 This is an appeal by the Petitioners, PITA, LLC (“PITA”) and the Milan Puskar Revocable 

Trust Restated 9/28/11 (“Trust”) (collectively, “Petitioners”) from a Circuit Court of 

Monongalia County judgment of $1,291,518.83 against the Respondent, Scott S. Segal (“Segal”) 

in favor of the Trust, but against the PITA relative to its claims against Segal for breach of his 

guaranty, and against PITA and the Trust relative to their claims against Segal for fraud. 

 The practical effect of the Circuit Court’s summary judgment against PITA relative to its 

claims against Segal for breach of his personal guaranty contract as that it has been deprived of the 

recovery of contractual interest, late fees, and legal expenses incurred in enforcing the guaranty.   

 The practical effect of the Circuit Court’s summary judgment against PITA and the Trust 

relative to their claims against Segal for fraud is that they have been deprived of a jury trial on those 

claims that Segal’s banking fraud expert testified presented jury issues.   

 The Petitioners therefore request that this Court reverse the judgment of the Circuit Court 

and remand with directions to enter judgment in favor of PITA against Segal for breach of contract, 

and for a jury trial on PITA’s and the Trust’s claims of fraud against Segal. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment to the Respondent Segal on 

the Petitioners’ fraud claim. 

2. The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment to the Respondent Segal on 

the Petitioner PITA’s breach of contract claim. 

3. The Circuit Court erred in crediting the Respondent Segal on the contribution 

claim by the Petitioner Trust with a partially-funded settlement by one of Segal’s coguarantors. 
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III.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 After Segal refused to honor his personal guaranty obligations on a loan by United Bank to 

Protea Biosciences, Inc. (“Protea”) sold to PITA, PITA and the Trust filed suit against Segal and 

two personal coguarantors.1  Segal and the other two personal coguarantors2 then filed a motion 

to dismiss and a motion for a more definite statement,3 which was denied.4  Thereafter, Segal and 

the other two personal guarantors filed a third-party complaint against United Bank (“United”), 

acknowledging that they had personally guaranteed the United loan to Protea, but arguing that (1) 

United had misled them – two of whom were attorneys – about the contents of written contracts 

they had executed; (2) United had promised, despite the clear language of the written guaranties 

they signed and later affirmed, that United would resort to collateral before enforcing their 

personal guaranties; and (3) United impaired the loan collateral “[b]y not utilizing the pledged 

collateral for the Note,” ignoring the fact that it was PITA not United who held the Protea Note 

at the time of Protea’s default and sued the three personal guarantors.5 

  Thereafter, PITA and the Trust filed an amended complaint against Segal and the other 

two personal guarantors, further articulating their claims.6  Specifically, related to their fraud 

claims against Segal and the other two coguarantors, PITA and the Trust asserted that, now that 

Segal and the other coguarantors were claiming some oral side agreements outside their 2017 

 
 1 App. 14. 

2 The other two coguarantors were Leonard P. Harris and Stanley M. Hostler, each of whom died 
either before or during the litigation.  App. 30-31 and 32-33. 

 3 App. 56. 

 4 App. 79. 

 5 App. 81-87. 

 6 App. 89. 
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written affirmations of their 2009 personal guaranties despite the fact that each of them disclaimed 

any such side oral agreements when they reaffirmed them in 2017, PITA, the Trust, and United 

had been fraudulent induced to reaffirm their respective obligations vis-à-vis the Protea Note in 

2017 when Segal and the other two personal guarantors had no intention of honoring theirs.7 

 Segal and the other two personal guarantors then moved to dismiss the amended complaint 

(1) reiterating their arguments, previously rejected, relative to the fraud claims; (2) arguing that 

the Trust – as a coguarantor – had no right to seek contribution even though it fully-funded the 

acquisition of the defaulted Protea Note by PITA from United; and (3) contending that a party 

cannot sue for both breach of contract and fraudulent inducement.8  On December 2, 2019, the 

Circuit Court denied the motion to dismiss the amended complaint.9  

 Thereafter, Segal and the other two personal guarantors answered the amended complaint 

and asserted counterclaims against the Trust which substantiate PITA’s and the Trust’s claims 

against Segal for fraud in the inducement.10  Specifically, even though Segal and the other two 

personal guarantors signed a 2017 agreement reaffirming their 2009 personal guaranties, they 

alleged in their counterclaims against the Trust that, before his death in 2011, six years before they 

reaffirmed their personal guaranties in 2017, “Mr. Puskar told the Bank that he wanted to be a 

100% guarantor for the note.”11  Moreover, Segal and the other two personal guarantors alleged 

that the Trust was part of a civil conspiracy involving PITA and United to “sue [the] alleged 

 
 7 App. 99-102. 

 8 App. 137. 

 9 App. 155. 

 10 App. 186. 

 11 App. 187. 
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guarantors for the full balance of the note [which] is illegal under state law.”12  In their response to 

a motion to dismiss their counterclaims, Segal and the two other personal guarantors further 

argued that (1) PITA and the Trust somehow owed them fiduciary duties and13 (2) neither the 

holder of a note nor a co-guarantor can sue other guarantors of the note for breach of contract or 

contribution because to do so somehow violates the Uniform Commercial Code.14 

 On November 6, 2020, United filed its summary judgment motion relative to the third-

party complaint.15  First, it noted that the personal guarantors expressly waived any claims against 

United as Protea’s lender.16  Second, it observed that any rights or duties it may have had vis-à-vis 

the guarantors had been assumed by PITA, as a matter of law, when United assigned the Protea 

Note to PITA.17  Finally, United noted that it was inconsistent for the personal guarantors to file 

bankruptcy claims against the defaulted borrower, Protea, at the same time contending that those 

guarantors had no rights or obligations relative to the Protea Note.18   

 On April 15, 2021, PITA and the Trust filed a motion for partial summary judgment against 

Segal and the other two personal guarantors.  First, like United, PITA noted that Segal had waived 

any claims against the “Lender” and as PITA had been assigned the Protea Note, it now stood in 

the shoes of the “Lender.”19  Second, again like United, PITA argued that the personal guarantors 

 
 12 App. 189. 

 13 App. 205-206. 

 14 App. 206-207. 

 15 App. 214. 

 16 App. 225-226. 

 17 App. 226-227. 

 18 App. 228-229. 

 19 App. 300-302. 
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were estopped from denying their contractual obligations while, at the same time, making 

bankruptcy claims predicated on those contractual obligations.20 

 On June 3, 2021, Segal responded to United’s summary judgment motion, arguing that (1) 

the guarantors did not knowingly waive their claims against United as “Lender” because United’s 

conduct forming the basis of their claims occurred after they signed and reaffirmed their 

guaranties;21 (2) United somehow impaired the collateral by selling the Protea Note for its face 

value to PITA before Protea’s default;22 (3) this impairment of collateral – which was nothing more 

than the sale of a note to a third-party – somehow violated the UCC;23 and (4) filing bankruptcy 

claims pursuant to a note was not inconsistent with alleging its invalidity.24    

 On June 9, 2021, the Circuit Court held a hearing on United’s, PITA’s, and the Trust’s 

summary judgment motions,25 and held that (1) Segal and the other co-guarantors waived any 

claims against United or its successor-in-interest PITA;26 (2) the two co-guarantors affirmed their 

understanding regarding the validity of the Protea Note by filing claims in the Protea bankruptcy;27 

(3) neither Segal nor the other co-guarantors had submitted a Rule 56(f) affidavit and no discovery 

could overcome the plain language of their personal guaranties relative to waiver;28 (4) because 

 
 20 App. 303-304. 

 21 App. 318-319. 

 22 App. 319-320. 

 23 App. 320-321. 

 24 App. 321-324.  Segal and his co-guarantors filed a similar response to PITA’s and the Trust’s 
motion for partial summary judgment.  App. 366-379. 

 25 App. 474. 

 26 App. 510. 

 27 Id.  

 28 App. 510-511. 
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United had the legal right to sell the Protea Note to PITA and PITA assumed all of United’s rights 

and obligations as “Lender” under the personal guaranties, Segal and the other two co-guarantors 

lacked standing to assert any third-party claims against United;29 and (5) there was no impairment 

of collateral under the UCC as United had sold the Protea Note to PITA before the default.30  On 

August 13, 2021, the Circuit Court entered its order granting PITA’s and the Trust’s motion for 

partial summary judgment and United’s motion for summary judgment.31   

 Segal and his co-guarantors responded on August 11, 2021, by filing a motion for 

reconsideration reiterating their arguments that (1) waiver does not apply to claims arising after 

execution of the waiver;32 (2) “the Trust, via Milan Puskar, guaranteed the entire amount of the 

debt;”33 and (3) the sale of the Protea Note by United to PITA constituted an impairment of 

collateral in violation of the UCC.34  Moreover, at a hearing conducted on the reconsideration 

motion on September 2, 2021, Segal argued (1) the assignment of the Protea Note by United to 

PITA was “illegal and unenforceable;”35 (2) PITA did not exist at the time of the 2009 personal 

guaranties or their 2017 reaffirmations and, thus, cannot benefit from their waivers;36 (3) PITA was 

not approved as a company licensed to do business in West Virginia until a week after the 

 
 29 App. 511. 

 30 App. 512. 

 31 App. 586. 

 32 App. 605-609. 

 33 App. 607. 

 34 App. 609. 

 35 App. 680. 

36 App. 682. 
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assignment;37 and (4) PITA is not a registered debt collector and, therefore, cannot sue for breach 

of the personal guaranties.38   

 At the hearing, the Circuit Court explored the absurdity of these arguments noting that (1) 

“anybody or any entity could purchase that note,” to which Segal made the ridiculous argument 

that “only a registered debt collector” can purchase a note;39 (2) “when they [the guarantors] 

signed the guaranty … they agreed not to make the defense that you’re making now,” to which 

Segal argued, “I don’t think that waiver can carry forward to PITA and the Trust;”40 and (3) “So 

then the Trust pays the debt and the guarantors walk? … Well, they did free up the debt,” to which 

Segal responded by reiterating his argument, which was non-responsive to the Circuit Court’s 

questioning, that the assignment was not valid or enforceable.41  Following the hearing, the Circuit 

Court entered an order denying Segal’s reconsideration motion.42  At that point in the litigation, 

United Bank was no longer an active party and discovery proceeded on PITA’s and the Trust’s 

claims against Segal and the other personal guarantors. 

 
 37 App. 682-683.  This assertion, however, is factually incorrect.  App. 420; see also App. 2401 
(“But it is in the record that PITA had been registered with the Secretary of State’s Office and had received 
its EIN number prior to execution of that assignment.”); App. 2562 (“We make sure that they are in good 
standing with the Secretary of State to do business when we do loans.”). 

 38 App. 683.  Indeed, Segal literally argued at the hearing that, “So you don’t get to become a bank 
and assert we’re only dealing in notes and loans and debt collection or anything like that without being 
properly approved of and regulated by the state.  Banking is a highly regulated industry.  And you can’t just 
create an LLC and say, well, now I’m a bank.”  App. 684.  Of course, this is preposterous as no contracting 
party could sue for breach unless it was a registered debt collector.  This is but one of several examples of 
frivolous claims and defenses raised by Segal. 

 39 App. 686. 

 40 Id. 

41 App. 689. 

 42 App. 713. 
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 At the close of discovery, PITA and the Trust filed a motion for partial summary judgment 

on their claims for breach of contract and contribution,43 and Segal and his coguarantors filed a 

cross motion for summary judgment.44  Relative to new defenses45 raised by Segal in his summary 

judgment motion, PITA and the Trust filed a response noting: 

(1)  W. Va. Code § 45-5-1, which gives a guarantor the right to demand that a 
creditor sue the borrower before proceeding against the guarantor, has no 
application here where PITA made a bankruptcy claim against Protea;46  

 
(2)  W. Va. Code § 45-1-2, which requires creditors to file suit against solvent 

borrowers before pursuing guarantors, has no application where Protea filed 
for bankruptcy protection because it was insolvent;47  

 
(3)  PITA was not required to sue the Trust where (a) it was merely a 

coguarantor on the Protea Note; (b) it funded PITA’s $3.3 million 
acquisition of the Protea Note; and (c) the guaranties expressly permit the 
Lender to elect its remedies against one or more guarantors;48  

 
(4)  Segal’s banking fraud expert had eviscerated Segal’s claims and defenses by 

testifying that (a) the Protea Note – always alleged by Segal not to be 
transferrable to anyone other than a registered debt collector – was saleable 
and transferable, including to Segal had he wanted to purchase it;49 (b) once 
acquired and assigned – notwithstanding Segal’s arguments to the contrary 
– the assignee acquired all the rights and remedies held by United;50 (c) until 
all the indebtedness was satisfied – contrary to Segal’s arguments – the legal 
obligations of the coguarantors persisted;51 (d) the owner of the Protea 

 
 43 App. 984. 

 44 App. 717. 

 45 Indeed, even though this lawsuit was instituted in 2018, Segal did not make a demand under W. 
Va. Code § 45-1-1, which has no application to this matter, until October 21, 2021.  App. 1664.  This is yet 
another example of Segal placing frivolous roadblocks against the enforcement of what his own expert 
testified was an industry standard personal guaranty. 

 46 App. 1384. 

 47 App. 1384-1385. 

 48 App. 1386-1389. 

 49 App. 1387. 

 50 App. 1388. 

 51 Id. 
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Note, under the terms of the guaranties – again contrary to Segal’s 
arguments – had the right to elect and compromise among the coguarantors 
their contractual obligations;52 (d) the coguarantors had a clear and 
unambiguous contractual obligation to pay the owner of the Protea Note 
interest, late charges, and collection costs, including attorney fees, in 
connection with enforcement of the guaranty agreements;53 (e) the owner 
of the Protea Note – again contrary to Segal’s arguments – had the 
contractual right to pursue the personal guaranties instead of the collateral 
for the loan;54 (f) the owner of the Protea Note – again contrary to Segal’s 
arguments – could elect to sue some but not all guarantors;55 (g) the waivers 
contained in the personal guaranties – again contrary to Segal’s arguments 
– was industry standard language waiving all defenses “Except the defense 
of payment in full;”56 (h) Segal should not have signed the 2017 
reaffirmation of his 2009 guaranty if he had some alleged unwritten oral 
agreement with Milan Puskar that impacted Segal’s contractual obligations 
under the 2009 guaranty and 2017 reaffirmation agreements – despite 
Segal’s arguments to the contrary;57 and (i) United’s and the Trust’s 
reliance on Segal’s representation in 2017 that he had no unwritten 
agreements impacting his guaranty obligations when he now contends that 
an unwritten agreement existed creates a dispute for “the trier of fact to 
resolve;”58  

 
(5)  PITA, as assignee of the Protea Note, was entitled to summary judgment on 

its claim for breach of contract; and  
 
(6)  The Trust was entitled to contribution as it paid more than its share of the 

Protea Note when it was acquired from United.59  
 

 
 52 App. 1389. 

 53 App. 1389-1390. 

 54 App. 1390. 

 55 App. 1391. 

 56 App. 1391-1392. 

 57 App. 1392. 

 58 App. 1393. 

 59 App. 1399. 
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 On January 13, 2022, a hearing was conducted on the parties’ cross-motions for summary 

judgment.60  On the eve of this hearing, PITA and the Trust reached a settlement with one of the 

three coguarantors.61  At the conclusion of the hearing, the Circuit Court requested both sides to 

submit proposed orders.62  Then, on March 7, 2022, the Circuit Court conducted a pretrial 

conference.63  On the eve of this conference, PITA and the Trust reached a settlement with the 

second of the three coguarantors,64 leaving only Segal as the holdout.65  During this hearing, the 

Circuit Court ruled: 

(1)  W. Va. Code § 45-1-1 has no application as PITA filed a claim against Protea 
in bankruptcy;66  

 
(2)  W. Va. Code § 45-1-2 has no application as Protea is insolvent;67  
 
(3)  PITA had no duty to sue the Estate of Milan Puskar as a coguarantor 

because he died in 2011 and his Estate was closed before Protea’s default;68 
 
(4)  Once Protea defaulted on the note, the obligations of the four coguarantors, 

Segal, Hostler, Harris, and the Trust, were triggered;69  
 

 60 App. 1797. 

 61 App. 1799.  A dismissal of Lorie Morrell as Executrix of the Estate of Leonard P. Harris was 
entered on January 28, 2022.  App. 1845.  The amount of the settlement was $537,500.  App. 1974. 

 62 App. 1841. 

 63 App. 1893. 

 64 App. 1895.  A dismissal of Carl Hostler, as Executor of the Estate of Stanley M. Hostler, was 
entered on March 10, 2022.  App. 1921.  The amount of the settlement was $175,000 and 90 percent of 
asbestos attorney fees received by the Estate, less taxes, and administrative costs, with a cap of $537,500.  
App. 1968.  As of the date of the filing of this brief, no additional payments have been received. 

 65 Segal made clear throughout the proceedings that he did not intend to honor his 2009 guaranty 
or 2017 reaffirmation agreements but would appeal any judgment entered against him.  See, e.g., App. 1896 
(“MR. RAMEY … But there is no prospect for a settlement unfortunately with Mr. Segal. … MR. RUBY: 
… I think I’ll have to agree with Mr. Ramey. … Mr. Segal’s desire to appeal ….”). 

66 App. 1906-1907. 

67 App. 1907. 

68 Id. 

69 App. 1908. 
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(5)  The fraud claim against Segal could not be sustained because “The loan has 

been paid off.  And so, I don’t see how the bank or PITA have been 
damaged;”70 and  

 
(6)  The Protea Note was properly assigned by United to PITA and Segal 

breached his guaranty with the only remaining issue the amount of PITA’s 
damages for Segal’s breach of contract.71   

 
The Circuit Court concluded the pretrial conference by stating, “I believe that resolves all of the 

motions for summary judgment.  And the only thing left is damages, which does include interest, 

late fees, administrative fees, and collection costs, including attorney fees.”72   

 On March 11, 2022, the Circuit Court entered an order directing briefing on PITA’s and 

the Trust’s damages for breach of contract and contribution,73 and the parties’ submissions were 

filed on March 12, 2022,74 March 28, 2022,75 and April 4, 2022.76  Then, on April 29, 2022, the 

Circuit Court entered an order indicating that it was reconsidering its rulings of March 7, 2022 and 

scheduling a hearing for May 27, 2022.77 

 At the hearing on May 27, 2022, the Circuit Court affirmed its previous rulings, but 

reversed its prior ruling relative to PITA’s breach of contract claim, holding that because the Trust 

funded PITA’s acquisition of the Protea Note, “PITA and the Trust is the same” and that “This 

matter is not founded on contract, but on principles of equity and … this is nothing more than a 

 
70 Id. 

71 App. 1909. 

72 App. 1910. 

73 App. 1923. 

 74 App. 1925. 

 75 App. 2328. 

 76 App. 2337. 

 77 App. 2383. 
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contribution case.”78  Based on these rulings, the Circuit Court entered judgment on July 21, 

2022,79 from which PITA, the Trust, and Segal have appealed.  The practical effect is that the 

Trust has a judgment of $1,291,518.83 against Segal as of July 21, 2022, with post-judgment interest 

accruing at the statutory rate of four percent. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Despite the preceding procedural history, the relevant facts of this case are straightforward.   

 In 2009, Scott S. Segal, Leonard P. Harris, and Stanley M. Hostler, signed contracts

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