IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

| | ICA EFiled: Jan 05 2023 06:16PM EST |
|--------------|--|
| | Transaction ID 68812074 |
| No. 22-ICA-4 | |
| | |

PITA, LLC, and MILAN PUSKAR REVOCABLE TRUST RESTATED 9/28/11,

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

v.

SCOTT S. SEGAL,

Defendant and Third-Party Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SCOTT S. SEGAL

Steven R. Ruby (WVSB #10752)

sruby@cdkrlaw.com

Raymond S. Franks II (WVSB #6523)

rfranks@cdkrlaw.com

CAREY DOUGLAS KESSLER & RUBY PLLC

901 Chase Tower, 707 Virginia Street, East

P.O. Box 913

Charleston, WV 25323

Telephone: (304) 345-1234

Facsimile: (304) 342-1105

Counsel for Respondent Scott S. Segal

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The summary judgment entered for Segal on the fraud claims and on PITA's claim for breach of contract should be affirmed. As to the former claims, Plaintiffs adduced no proof of fraudulent intent, and they have demonstrated no justifiable reliance on any statement, act, or omission attributable to Segal. Plaintiffs therefore fell woefully short of evidencing each essential element of fraud commensurate with the "clear and convincing" standard required to prevail, with the result that they were correctly deemed unentitled to a trial.

As to the latter claim, the circuit court found as a fact that PITA and the Trust were "one and the same." Inasmuch as the Trust, being limited to the remedy of contribution, could not maintain an action against Segal for breach of contract, neither may PITA. The court's judgment in that respect was clearly correct.

Finally, Plaintiffs maintain that Segal should not receive credit in contribution for the \$362,000 outstanding settlement balance from a co-guarantor. Plaintiffs are mistaken, in that the speculative risk of eventual non-collection from a settling party that was (and still is) solvent, is properly borne solely by Plaintiffs by virtue of their negotiation of and voluntary entry into the settlement with full knowledge and appreciation of its risks.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This matter is of fundamental public importance and its resolution will involve deciding certain issues of first impression. The questions presented by this appeal are therefore appropriate for oral argument in accordance with Rule 20(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. As such, none of the criteria for deciding this appeal without oral argument, set forth in Rule 18(a), are applicable.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*." Syl. pt. 1, *Painter v*. *Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). The trial court may grant a motion for summary judgment only if the pleadings and record evidence "show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." W. VA. R. CIV. P. 56(c). "A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the applicable law." Syl. pt. 5, *Jividen v. Law*, 194 W. Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995). A case

presents a "genuine" issue whenever "there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for that party." *Id*,

It has been deemed "improper" that a trial court "make findings of fact in connection with granting a summary judgment, as the very nature of summary judgment is that there is no genuine issue of material fact," but the court below was nonetheless required to "make factual findings sufficient to permit meaningful appellate review." *State ex rel. Vanderra Res., LLC v. Hummel*, 242 W. Va. 35, 41, 829 S.E.2d 35, 41 (2019) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). In harmony with what might superficially be seen as countervailing statements of the law, a circuit court may make contextual findings in aid of appeal that do not bear on a material fact, or find certain material facts to be undisputed, *see* syl. pt. 3, *Fayette Cnty. Nat'l Bank v. Lilly*, 199 W. Va. 349, 484 S.E.2d 232 (1997), or — consistently with the summary judgment standard — make findings of material fact that are not in *reasonable* dispute and, as such, fail to present a genuine issue for resolution. As detailed immediately below, the circuit court made the latter sort of finding in entering judgment for Segal on PITA's claim for breach of contract.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY ENTERED SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR SEGAL ON PITA'S COUNT III CLAIM FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT.

Taking Plaintiffs' second assignment of error first, the circuit court found as facts on the record that PITA was "wholly financed by the Trust and was created solely to acquire the Note, release the collateral that Protea and guarantors had posted, and pursue a financial recovery on the Trust's behalf from the other guarantors." JA 2608. At hearing, the court stated, "I find that the Trust did pay the note by providing the money to PITA, which is nothing more than the Trust doing business as PITA." Id. at 2427 (emphasis added). The circuit court memorialized in its final order the findings immediately below:

The Court finds that under the facts of this case, PITA is not a non-interested independent third party but is one and the same with the Trust. The Court finds that the Trust provided the funds to pay the Note in full in 2017. In this case equitable principles limit recovery against co-guarantors to their pro rata contributive share through a claim for contribution. Accordingly, PITA's breach of contract claim is dismissed with prejudice.

Id. at 2604. PITA's claim for breach of contract in its own right was, according to the circuit court, "legally insufficient as a matter of law." *Id.*

Simply put, the Trust cannot do through an alter ego what it could not do for itself. Left to its own devices, the Trust could only sue the individual guarantors to have each contribute his proportionate share. But the Trust could not recover the attorney fees it would have to expend to prepare and maintain an ordinary contribution action, regardless of whether it paid off the Note or acquired it outright from United. *See* 38A C.J.S. *Guaranty* § 65 (2022); JA 2612, *supra* at 4.

To circumvent its sole legitimate recourse, the Trust devised an elaborate artifice designed:

(1) to shift to Segal and the other individual guarantors its attorney fees incurred in anticipation and conduct of litigation; and (2) to recover the *entire* amount of Protea's defaulted obligation with *no* net loss to itself. Lest there be any doubt as to the latter proposition, PITA's (and the Trust's) corporate designee, Lori Maynard, confirmed it:

- Q. [W]hat is PITA's belief as to what amount should be paid to it by the trust on its \$3 million guarantee?
- A. Well, PITA would like to collect from the guarantors with what they are entitled to pay with their guarantee, and then anything remaining, PITA assumes that they will be or the trust assumes they will be responsible for.
- Q. Okay, I don't understand what that means. Can you explain that to me? What do you mean?
- A. Meaning that we have these other guaranters who are guarantees on this note and we want to collect what's owed per each of them and then anything beyond that, the trust would be responsible for, per their guarantee.

- Q. So you're not looking for a proportional allocation of damages, you don't believe the trust should have to pay anything?
- A. Well, each guarantee says that each guarantor is owed up to \$1 million each plus fees, interest, collection costs, so *we want to collect what each of their guarantees be* and then beyond that, the trust would be responsible.
- Q. So doesn't the trust guarantee say the same thing?
- A. It does, but it also —

[OBJECTION BY COUNSEL FOR THE WITNESS]

A. Sorry. It also states that you can select from any one of the guarantors.

JA 1451-52 (emphases added).

Plaintiffs advance ad nauseum the uncontroversial notion that co-guarantors are legally entitled to acquire the principal's obligation and debt documents and sue on the remaining guaranties, rather than simply pay the obligation and seek contribution. See Pet. Br. 29-31 & nn. 137-39 (collecting cases). And Plaintiffs are certainly right — loans are assigned all the time, often to outside financial interests who believe the loan is profitable, but sometimes to more intimately involved parties such as guarantors. When the latter occurs, though, the purchaser can recover from its co-guarantors only so much as it could have in a direct contribution action. Plaintiffs rely on a string of authorities that explicitly say as much. See, e.g., Pet. Br. 33 n.139 (citing Oregon case for the proposition that "the coguarantor, as assignee of the creditor, can maintain an action to enforce the guaranty agreements against his or her coguarantors; however, equitable principles limit the guarantor-assignee's recovery against his or her coguarantors to their pro rata contributive share of what the purchasing-guarantor paid the creditor" (emphasis added)).

While loans can indeed be assigned and pursued to the hilt by arms-length third parties, the Trust has identified no case countenancing the sort of puppetry it attempted through its creation of

PITA and subsequent machinations. In fact, *In re Basil Street Partners, LLC*, No. 9:11-bk-19510, 2012 WL 6101914 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. Dec. 7, 2012), *see* Pet. Br. 31 n.137, illustrates just the opposite. In *Basil Street*, Antaramian, one of the guarantors of a defaulted \$36 million resort development loan purchased it at a steep discount for \$8.668 million "through an entity indirectly owned and completely controlled by him." 2012 WL 6101914 at *16. The alter ego, APL, proceeded to sue three of the co-guarantors for the outstanding debt balance, each of whom had executed a personal guaranty for \$15 million. *Id.* The court concluded that "a guarantor is precluded from collecting payment from his co-guarantors for the full amount of the debt owed on the note, and thereby avoiding his own percentage of liability." *Id.* (citation omitted). The coguarantors' liability was thus limited to their proportionate shares of \$8.668 million. *Id.* at *17. The bankruptcy court (as did the circuit court in this case) ignored that the alter ego was the nominal party in interest, declaring that it would "not elevate the form of the transaction over its substance, and thereby allow APL to accomplish what Antaramian himself could not." *Id.*

Plaintiffs decry the circuit court's finding that the Trust and PITA "are one and the same," protesting that the court did not first engage in the elaborate, nineteen-factor veil-piercing analysis prescribed in *Laya v. Erin Homes, Inc.*, 177 W. Va. 343, 352 S.E.2d 93 (1986). *See* Pet. Br. 21-28. But courts are not bound in general to ignore what is patently clear, or more particularly to overlook that a shell company has been formed for the express, illegitimate purpose of performing its creator's dirty work. An example of that principle operating in the extreme is illustrated in *Mirabito v. San Francisco Dairy Co.*, 35 P.2d 513 (Cal. 1934) (per curiam).

In *Mirabito*, the en banc Supreme Court of California concluded for the first time *on appeal* that although the tortfeasor milk truck driver was technically employed by the nonparty parent (Dairy Delivery Company, Inc.) of the defendant subsidiary (San Francisco Dairy

Company), the evidence was yet sufficient to sustain the jury's verdict against the subsidiary in a *respondeat superior* action where the president of both entities testified with respect to them and another that "all these companies were one." 35 P.2d at 516. The high court in *Mirabito* proclaimed that "the only logical conclusion to be drawn was that appellant San Francisco Dairy Company was merely the alter ego of the Dairy Delivery Company." *Id.* Thereafter, the trial court amended its judgment to include Dairy Delivery Company, an administrative act affirmed on appeal. *See Mirabito v. San Francisco Dairy Co.*, 47 P.2d 530, 532 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1935) (per curiam) (denying Dairy Delivery's jurisdictional and due process challenges and declaring that "The doctrine of corporate entity is not so sacred that a court of equity will hesitate to look through form to the substance of the thing, and it may, in proper cases, ignore it to preserve the rights of persons imposed upon or circumvented by fraud." (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)).

Here, it is undisputed that PITA had no assets other than those provided by the Trust, and that its *raison d'être* was to acquire the Note, secure the collateral's release, and exact the maximum recovery — including its legal fees — from the individual guarantors. Under those circumstances, it is manifestly unreasonable to assert error in the circuit court's finding that PITA was the alter ego of the Trust, the former being powerless as a matter of law to enlarge the rights of the latter. Indeed, any other finding is simply illogical.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY ENTERED SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR SEGAL ON PLAINTIFFS' COUNT I AND COUNT II FRAUD CLAIMS.

In entering summary judgment for Segal on the fraud claims, the circuit court forthrightly followed settled West Virginia law recognizing that "fraud cannot be predicated on a promise not performed. To make it available there must be a false assertion in regard to some existing matter by which a party is induced to part with his money or property." *Gaddy Eng'g Co. v. Bowles Rice*

McDavid Graff & Love, LLP, 231 W. Va. 577, 586, 746 S.E.2d 568, 577 (2013); JA 2609. Put another way, the requisite false representation or omission "must ordinarily relate to a past or existing fact, or to an alleged past or existing fact, and not to future occurrences." Janssen v. Carolina Lumber Co., 137 W. Va. 561, 570, 73 S.E.2d 12, 17 (1952).

Applied to the case at bar, the rule set forth in *Gaddy* and *Janssen* makes plain that the circuit court ruled correctly. In executing the 2017 Change in Terms Agreement, all the principals (including the Trust) reaffirmed their 2009 guarantees and commitments, most importantly their respective guaranties of the Loan Agreement and Note. Plaintiffs contended below that Segal never intended to honor his promise. There is absolutely no evidence of that in the record, however, let alone the "clear and convincing" evidence necessary to prevail on a claim of fraud. *See Tri-State Asphalt Prods. Co. v. McDonough Co.*, 182 W. Va. 757, 762, 391 S.E.2d 907, 912 (1990) (detailing standard of proof). All that Plaintiffs can point to in support of their spurious allegations is the parties' adoption within the 2017 Agreement of a standard disclaimer of oral agreements notwithstanding the unwritten understanding then extant between the individual guarantors and Puskar that the Trust would fully satisfy any default on the Note. From that circumstance, Plaintiffs make the logical leap that Segal must have intended all along to avoid his guaranty in the event of default by invoking the disclaimed oral agreement.

The far more plausible inference, however, is that Segal executed the Change in Terms Agreement to keep his guaranty in place, striving to do his part to prevent United from calling the loan and immediately putting Protea out of business. Rather than intending to avoid his guaranty by relying on the individual guarantors' oral contract with the Trust through Puskar, it can be reasonably inferred that Segal merely sought to confine his liability to the worst-case scenario where the collateral proved insufficient to satisfy the secured indebtedness (perhaps in the event

that it was depleted by other obligations) and the Trust was otherwise rendered insolvent. Nothing in that scenario remotely smacks of fraudulent intent. Segal made a promise to honor his guaranty under a particular confluence of circumstances, and had those circumstances come to pass, he would have fulfilled that promise. Or so a reasonable factfinder could readily find in the absence of affirmative evidence of malintent, which precludes Plaintiffs from prevailing on their fraud claims as a matter of law.

Plaintiffs' fraud claims also fail the essential element of justifiable reliance. See Trafalgar House Const., Inc. v. ZMM, Inc., 211 W. Va. 578, 584, 567 S.E.2d 294, 300 (2002) (claim for fraud requires act or omission on defendant's part that is material, false, and justifiably relied on claimant to his detriment). Segal's oral agreement at the heart of Plaintiffs' claims was, through Puskar, with the Trust itself. The Trust cannot contend that it justifiably relied on Segal's disclaimer concerning an oral agreement to which it knew, or reasonably should have known, that it was a party. And because — as the circuit court explicitly found — the Trust is PITA and PITA is the Trust, the same goes for PITA upon acquiring the loan and the Note from United. What United knew, or didn't know, of the oral agreement was rendered legally irrelevant once it transferred the loan documents, as PITA is appropriately charged with the Trust's knowledge and not the bank's. See Pet. Br. 15-16. Equally irrelevant, then, is anything that Segal's banking expert (who was not a lawyer) might have opined as to the legal propriety of executing at the bank's request the Change in Terms Agreement containing the oral agreement disclaimer. See id. 16-18.

Finally, it should not escape this Court's notice that, having devised an elaborate, deceitful contrivance to avoid their own obligations and improperly impose liability for their attorney fees on the backs of their co-guarantors, Plaintiffs' unvarnished allegations of fraud on the part of Segal evidence *chutzpah* of the most brazen and breathtaking sort. Insofar as equitable considerations

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